

Economic Instruments for Methane Reduction & Improved Food Security in Ecuador









Authors

This report was written by Gray E. Norton and Emily M. Broad Leib at the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic with contributions from Ana Catalina Suárez Peña & María Isabela Molina Maestre at The Global FoodBanking Network.

About The Global FoodBanking Network

Food banking offers a solution to both chronic hunger and the climate crisis. GFN works with partners in over 50 countries to recover and redirect food to those who need it. In 2023, our Network provided food to more than 40 million people, reducing food waste and creating healthy, resilient communities. We help the food system function as it should: *nourishing people and the planet together*. Learn more at <u>foodbanking.org</u>.

About the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic

Since 2010, the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) has served partner organizations and communities in the U.S. and around the world by providing guidance on cuttingedge food system issues, while engaging law students in the practice of food law and policy. FLPC is committed to advancing a cross-sector, multi-disciplinary and inclusive approach to its work, building partnerships with academic institutions, government agencies, non-profit organizations, private sector actors, and civil society with expertise in public health, the environment, and the economy. FLPC's work focuses on increasing access to nutritious foods, addressing the climate-related impacts of food and agricultural systems, reducing waste of healthy, wholesome food, and promoting food system justice. For more information, visit chlpi.org/food-law-and-policy.

Funding Support from the Global Methane Hub

The research included in this report is possible through funding by the Global Methane Hub. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations presented in this report are those of GFN & FLPC alone and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Global Methane Hub.

Report design by Najeema Holas-Huggins.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Introduction | 1 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Action Opportunities in Brief | 2 |
| Carbon Accounting Instruments in Ecuador's Climate Policy Framework | 3 |
| Zero Carbon Program (Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero, or PECC) & Potential Carbon Markets | 3 |
| Carbon Tax | 4 |
| Methane Legislation | 4 |
| Food Waste Deterrence & Other Policies to Promote Food Donation | 5 |
| Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law (Ley para Prevenir y Reducir la Pérdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situación de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria) | 5 |
| Tax Benefits for Food Donation and Recovery | 5 |
| Enhancing Food Recovery from Agricultural Producers | 5 |
| Methodology | 6 |
| Terminology | 6 |
| Why Target Methane? | 7 |
| Scope of Emissions in Ecuador | 8 |
| Food Loss & Waste is Also a Significant Problem | 9 |
| FLW and Hunger in Ecuador | 10 |
| Food Recovery is a Critical Part of the Solution | 10 |
| Ecuador's Commitment to Climate Mitigation | 10 |
| Ecuador's Nationally Determined Contributions | 12 |
| Ecuador's Constitution and the Rights of Nature | 13 |
| National Climate Change Strategy | 14 |
| Economic Instruments in Ecuador's Climate Policy Framework | 14 |
| Zero Carbon Program (Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero, or PECC) | 14 |
| Considerations for Food Recovery Organizations Interested in Carbon Offset Frameworks | 16 |
| Carbon Markets | 18 |
| Action Opportunities for the PECC & Potential Carbon Markets | 19 |
| Carbon Tax | 20 |
| Action Opportunity | 20 |
| Methane Legislation | 21 |
| Action Opportunity | 21 |
| Food Waste Deterrence & Other Policies to Promote Food Donation | 21 |
| Food Waste Deterrence Policies: Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law | 22 |
| Action Opportunity | 23 |
| Tax Benefits for Food Donation and Recovery | 23 |
| Action Opportunity | 23 |
| Enhancing Food Recovery from Agricultural Producers | 24 |
| Action Opportunity | 24 |
| Conclusion | 25 |



INTRODUCTION

Communities and governments across the globe are currently engaging in conversations about ways to mitigate the impacts of climate change and increase resilience in the face of its effects. Strategies have emerged that utilize diverse practices, from endeavors such as planting trees and vegetation for carbon sequestration to technological innovations like carbon capture and storage. Similarly, resilience strategies also include a range of approaches from ideas like creating sustainable infrastructure for climate adaptation to full-scale efforts to move whole communities from places that are no longer habitable because of climate impacts. Food lies at the nexus of climate change mitigation and resilience, and climate strategies must include the food system to be effective. For example, ensuring that safe, nutritious food is consumed by humans keeps it out of landfills, where it decomposes and contributes to emissions of greenhouse gases — specifically methane. Additionally, when people have enough food to eat, they do not have to worry about meeting a basic need, and their communities become stronger and more resilient.

To explore the role of food recovery in mitigating climate change and increasing community resilience, The Global FoodBanking Network (GFN) and the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC), with funding from the Global Methane Hub (GMH), examined a set of key laws and policies in Ecuador that could support food recovery. While a broad constellation of policies can impact food donation and recovery, the research for this report focused on a selection of policies that use economic instruments — specifically incentives or penalties — such as carbon taxes; carbon markets or greenhouse gas offset mechanisms; financial penalties, such as food waste deterrence policies like organic waste bans or food donation requirements; and other incentives like tax benefits to enhance food recovery. This report provides individuals, policymakers, and organizations interested in mitigating greenhouse gas emissions through food recovery with information about the relevant policies in Ecuador that might help further their goals, as well as opportunities for further progress.

To help confront the most urgent and widespread legal and policy questions surrounding food recovery and donation, FLPC and GFN partnered to create The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas (Atlas Project).¹ The Atlas Project aims to identify and explain national laws relating to food donation, analyze the most common legal barriers to promoting increased food donation, and share best practices for overcoming these barriers. The Atlas Project is mapping the laws and policies affecting food donation in countries around the world and in 2022 it issued a legal guide detailing Ecuador's relevant food donation laws and policies.² While the Atlas Project's Ecuador Legal Guide covers an array of laws impacting food donation in Ecuador, from food safety to liability protections for food donations, this report focuses only on policies that use economic instruments to either deter food waste — such as food waste deterrence laws — or to incentivize food recovery or donation — such as tax incentives or carbon offsets.

The remainder of this paper describes Ecuador's approach to relevant greenhouse gas emissions reduction policies and discusses the potential role for food donations to help reduce methane emissions. It begins with a summary of the action opportunities presented throughout the paper, followed by background on methane emissions, food loss and waste, and food recovery. The remaining sections evaluate Ecuador's relevant policy landscape and explore the potential for economic policy opportunities to support food donation and food waste reduction, including Ecuador's Zero Carbon Program (*Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero*, or PECC), carbon markets, carbon taxes, food waste deterrence laws, and tax incentives. Each section ends with examples of action opportunities that policymakers can take to support food waste reduction and thus reduce emissions. Because the action opportunities for the PECC and carbon markets align, they are presented together in both the action opportunities summary and following the carbon market discussion.

The research and recommendations below were reviewed by Banco de Alimentos Quito but have not otherwise been fully vetted with other in-country stakeholders. They were also reviewed by the *Quantifying and Growing Methane Reductions through Community-based Food Recovery and Redistribution* advisory group. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations presented in this report are those of GFN & FLPC alone.

ACTION OPPORTUNITIES IN BRIEF

The action opportunities presented in this paper and summarized in brief below provide a starting point for policymakers to build on and strengthen Ecuador's existing methane emissions policies by incorporating an increased focus on facilitating food donation. Policies that support food recovery and redistribution work not only to address social concerns such as poverty and high rates of

food insecurity, but also to mitigate methane emissions by reducing the amount of organic waste decomposing in landfills. Across all opportunities, it is essential to include food banks in the policy conversation from the start to ensure effective policy implementation and increase food donations, thereby maximizing methane emissions reductions.

In addition to the action opportunities identified herein, policymakers should consider additional opportunities to advance food donation and reduce methane emissions from food waste. They should partner with and include voices from food banks and other organizations with the mission to reduce food loss and waste and increase food donation (collectively referred to as "food recovery organizations"), as well as food donors.

The paper suggests action opportunities in the following areas:

CARBON ACCOUNTING INSTRUMENTS IN ECUADOR'S CLIMATE POLICY FRAMEWORK

Zero Carbon Program (*Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero*, or PECC) & Potential Carbon Markets

When the Ministry of Environment, Water, and Ecological Transition (Ministra del Ambiente, Agua y Transición Ecológica, or MAATE) provides technical guidance to implement the Zero Carbon Program for waste management activities, it should:

• Use language that ensures food recovery organizations, such as food banks, can participate with projects that prevent food from entering the landfill and emitting methane.

Technical guidance for waste management projects should be written in a way that focuses on the core requirements for documenting emissions reductions and that avoids limiting projects that may accomplish those reductions. A broader approach to the guidance that focuses on ensuring the integrity of the underlying project rather than specific types of eligible projects, would allow food banks — which may not typically be associated with waste management activities — to benefit from the program financially while providing an opportunity for other entities to offset their own emissions.

 Provide guidance on how food recovery projects can meet the additionality element required by the PECC, considering the organic waste ban currently being implemented under Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law (Ley para Prevenir y Reducir la Pérdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situación de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria or Food Loss and Waste Law).

Both carbon markets and the PECC's carbon neutrality component require additionality. Project activity must result in additional emissions reductions compared to what would be possible under business as usual, absent the additional funding that would come from the Emissions Compensation Unit (*Unidades de compensación de emisiones* or UCEs) or offsets.

Guidance on how to demonstrate additionality in food recovery projects — when the business-as-usual scenario under the Food Loss and Waste Law effectively requires emissions reductions by banning food disposal in landfills but does not mandate food donation as the only alternative use — would help food recovery organizations determine

the extent to which they can participate in the PECC or another offset framework like a carbon market. Such guidance could also help to ensure support for donation, which provides more benefits compared to some of the other alternative uses for food, such as composting and alternative energy generation.

To reduce methane emissions and promote food recovery projects in the PECC and any potential carbon market, policymakers should:

• Provide assistance to food recovery organizations interested in participating in emissions offset programs like the PECC.

Considering the high costs around project development, monitoring, and third-party verification, policymakers could also provide grants or other financial assistance to food banks and other food recovery organizations interested in participating in emissions offset programs.

• Ensure robust data collection.

Collecting baseline data on food loss and waste and food donations can help determine the potential effectiveness of food recovery projects in the PECC's carbon neutrality component and the impacts of any food loss and waste regulations. The data can then be used for a variety of other measures, including calculating the potential greenhouse gas emissions avoided by instituting a food donation requirement or a potential future compliance carbon market. Policymakers should authorize grants to support robust data collection related to food loss and waste and resultant emissions.

Carbon Tax

If the National Assembly were to pursue a carbon tax, policymakers should:

• Include support for food waste reduction activities in the legislation.

If the National Assembly were to pursue a carbon tax, the tax law could create a fund for a portion of the carbon tax revenues to provide grants to food waste reduction projects, such as food donation or recovery infrastructure projects.

Methane Legislation

To strengthen commitments to methane reduction, policymakers should:

• Codify the commitments in the Global Methane Pledge and use food donations to help meet methane emission reduction targets.

Ecuador can establish methane regulations and codify its voluntary commitment to reducing methane emissions. Further, including landfills in methane regulations could work in tandem with the Food Loss and Waste Law.

FOOD WASTE DETERRENCE & OTHER POLICIES TO PROMOTE FOOD DONATION

Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law (*Ley para Prevenir y Reducir la Pérdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situación de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria*)

To promote food recovery activities and deter food waste from emitting methane in landfills, policymakers in Ecuador should:

• Draft regulations to implement the Food Loss and Waste Law.

Shortly after taking office, President Daniel Noboa took steps toward implementing the law by publishing a framework with a new timeline for relevant agencies to publish their own regulations required to implement the law. Maintaining this timeline will ensure the Food Loss and Waste Law proceeds at the correct pace and the resultant food waste mitigation activities can improve methane emissions.

Tax Benefits for Food Donation and Recovery

To encourage more methane-mitigating food donations, policymakers could:

• Offer tax incentives for food donations made to food recovery organizations and other intermediaries.

Tax incentives for food donations encourage people to donate more food and help to offset the costs of handling and transporting food for donation. While the Food Loss and Waste Law prohibits destroying food that is safe for human consumption, a tax incentive would encourage potential donors to choose donation over other allowable alternatives.

• Provide a tax incentive for activities associated with the collection, storage, transportation, and delivery of donated food.

A tax incentive for activities associated with the collection, storage, transportation, and delivery of donated food should be considered to help offset the costs of donation and encourage actors in the food supply chain to invest in infrastructure that will facilitate food recovery activities.

Enhancing Food Recovery from Agricultural Producers

To help offset some of the costs, agricultural producers encounter when harvesting and transporting donated food, policymakers should:

• Provide grants or tax incentives to encourage development of robust food recovery systems that will ease implementation of the Food Loss and Waste Law.

Grants and tax incentives should be available for producers to offset the costs associated with harvesting and donating food when prices are too low to be commercially viable. Funds and tax incentives should also be made available for infrastructure like cold storage and transportation that would allow farmers to properly store and transport their produce to food recovery organizations.

METHODOLOGY

To obtain the necessary data for this paper, the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic

- Reviewed relevant existing FLPC materials, such as the Global Food Donation Policy Atlas Project Ecuador Legal Guide and Policy Recommendations.
- Conducted a high-level literature review to identify and understand the scope of emissions in Ecuador, Ecuador's approach to greenhouse gas emissions reduction policy, and the potential role of food banks in using food donations to help reduce methane emissions.
- Scanned the following databases to learn more about Ecuador's relevant law and policies, such as greenhouse emissions reductions policies and economic instruments: CarbonPulse, Elsevier, Science Direct, Westlaw Edge, LexisNexis, HeinOnline, Jstor, Social Science Research Network, ResearchGate, Harvard University HOLLIS Library Catalogue, Taylor Francis Online, ProQuest, and Wiley Online Library.

TERMINOLOGY

This section provides an understanding of the basic terminology used throughout the paper.

What is carbon pricing?

Carbon pricing assigns a price to carbon emissions with the goal of mitigating the negative externalities from greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. It can be an effective tool to incentivize climate action because it incorporates the cost of emissions into economic decision-making. There are three main frameworks for carbon pricing: (1) carbon taxes, (2) compliance carbon markets or emissions trading systems (ETS), sometimes called cap-and-trade, and (3) voluntary carbon markets (VCM).³

What is a carbon tax?

A carbon tax levies a price on carbon consumption (generally fossil fuels), and governments collect the tax from emitters as set forth in the law or implementing regulation. While the name references carbon, a carbon tax can apply to other types of greenhouse gas emissions, like methane emissions from landfills, agriculture, or industry.⁴ Carbon taxes vary in price, and, if set too low, may not cover the true cost of the negative externalities from the emissions.⁵

What is a compliance carbon market?

Under a compliance carbon market, or ETS, the governing body establishes regulations that set a limit or cap on emissions and mandate participation by certain emitters, such as power plants or other industrial operations. It then issues the regulated entities (emitters) carbon credits (like a permit) that are also limited to align with the total cap in emissions. There are a set number of credits determined by the governing body. Regulated entities that wish to exceed their emissions cap must purchase (trade) credits from other regulated bodies that have available credits or otherwise risk a fine for noncompliance. The carbon price in an ETS changes according to the market demand for emissions.⁶

Typically, in both compliance and voluntary markets, one carbon credit represents one metric ton of carbon dioxide equivalent that the relevant project either removes from the atmosphere or ensures are avoided altogether, such as when edible food is diverted from landfills to food banks for human consumption, and methane emissions are avoided in the landfill.⁷

What is a voluntary carbon market?

A voluntary carbon market (VCM) does not require participation from specific emitters but rather enables various stakeholders to participate voluntarily by purchasing carbon credits to offset their emissions based on verifiable standards. There is currently no global standardization for VCMs. There is potential to regulate the VCM that would not mandate participation but would instead provide guardrails to ensure integrity in the marketplace.

What is additionality?

Additionality represents the additional emissions reductions that are only possible because of the funding from an emissions reduction unit or offset. Additionality is an essential criterion for confirming an offset project's credibility in the marketplace — without it the emissions offsets are illusory.⁸ To satisfy additionality, the project must achieve emissions reductions beyond those that were already occurring or that were going to occur absent funding from the emissions reduction unit or offset.⁹ High-quality offset projects demonstrate additionality by showing that the finance from the offset unit is necessary to achieve the emission reductions.

WHY TARGET METHANE?



Methane is the world's second-largest contributor to global warming after carbon dioxide, contributing 20-30% of the global climate change over the last 200 years, and as mentioned above, methane emissions from landfills alone are expected to increase by about 70% as the population increases through 2050.¹⁰ Although carbon dioxide is more abundant than methane in the atmosphere, a single molecule of methane more effectively traps heat than a single molecule of carbon dioxide. Methane traps over 80 times more heat than carbon dioxide over the first 20-year period, making it a much more concerning climate pollutant in the short term.¹¹

But the lifetime of a methane molecule is shorter than that of a carbon dioxide molecule

because natural chemical processes scrub methane out of the atmosphere more quickly than carbon dioxide. Therefore, if methane emissions were to decline and the natural chemical scrubbing of

methane maintained, atmospheric methane could decrease dramatically in just 10 years.¹² Decreasing the amount of methane put into the atmosphere could have a significant and nearly immediate impact on reducing the near-term effects of climate change, contributing to keeping global temperature change within 1.5 degrees Celsius.¹³ Meeting the below-2-degrees-Celsius target will be challenging without incorporating methane reduction strategies

Food waste that decomposes in landfills is a significant source of methane, and diverting edible food from the landfill through food donation is a powerful lever for reducing methane emissions. Food loss and waste emissions accounted for 8-10% of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions (carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide) between 2010 and 2016.¹⁴ Using baseline data from 2015, global methane emissions from solid waste management are predicted to double by 2050.¹⁵ Significant reductions in methane emissions can be achieved through improved landfill management.¹⁶ Assuming it is possible to increase infrastructure to source, separate, recycle, and implement waste-to-energy recovery across the globe (including a prohibition on sending organic waste to landfills in the next 20 years), the potential exists to reduce 2050 baseline methane emissions by 80%.¹⁷

Diverting safe, nutritious food from the landfill to feed hungry people has the co-benefits of improving food security and mitigating methane emissions that contribute to global temperature rise. As policymakers are becoming increasingly aware of methane's potency and role in climate change, the amount of methane emissions caused by landfills, and the potential opportunities to use economic policies to divert food waste from landfills, governments are progressively enacting laws and regulations, including requiring organic waste diversion, imposing financial penalties for wasting food, or mandating the donation of edible, surplus food.¹⁸ Food banks play a critical role in facilitating increases in food donation that result from such policies.

Scope of Emissions in Ecuador

In 2020, Ecuador was responsible for 0.20% of global greenhouse emissions, which is approximately 94.2 metric tons of CO2 equivalent.¹⁹ Since 1990, Ecuador has seen total greenhouse gas emissions increase by around 25%.²⁰ The vast majority of the increase can be attributed to an increase in greenhouse gas emissions from energy, which has offset a 27% decrease in emissions from land-use change and forestry.²¹

In 2020, Ecuador became a net exporter of energy, due in part to the introduction of hydroelectric plants that came online in 2017.²² Although the country is now producing more renewable energy that creates fewer greenhouse gas emissions, much of this renewable energy is exported to Colombia and Peru.²³ Domestic energy consumption is about 75% from petroleum, which has contributed to the increase in greenhouse gas emissions.²⁴

Emissions from waste have more than doubled since 1990, and waste today accounts for about 13% of Ecuador's total greenhouse gas emissions.²⁵ Most food waste — which usually ends up in landfills — is included in the waste category of emissions.²⁶ Emissions from agriculture have remained relatively constant, with an increase of only about 1 metric ton of CO2 equivalent since 1990.²⁷ Since 2010, greenhouse gas emissions in Ecuador have plateaued, with a slight total decrease from 2019 to 2020.²⁸ This decrease is largely attributable to an approximately 14 %decrease in energy emissions from 2019 to 2020.²⁹ Given the dramatic shift in day-to-day activities stemming from the global

COVID-19 pandemic beginning in early 2020, it is difficult to determine if this favorable trend will continue as activities return to a more normal state.

| 2020 ECUADOR GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ³⁰ | | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------|----------|--------------|-------------------------|--|
| | Carbon | Methane | Total GHG ³¹ | |
| Waste | n/a | 12 MT CO2e | 12.41 MT CO2e | |
| Agriculture | n/a | 8.57 MT CO2e | 13 MT CO2e | |
| Energy | 32.46 MT | 6.89 MT CO2e | 39.7 MT C02e | |
| Land-Use Change and Forestry | 26.12 MT | 6.55 KT CO2e | 26.14 MT CO2e | |
| Industrial Processes | 1.97 MT | n/a | 2.94 MT CO2e | |
| Total | 60.6 MT | 27.5 MT CO2e | 94.2 MT CO2e | |

The above data from Climate Watch³² demonstrates that waste is a key source of methane emissions in Ecuador, much of which likely comes from food waste.

FOOD LOSS & WASTE IS ALSO A SIGNIFICANT PROBLEM

Food loss and waste (FLW) is one of the greatest food system challenges, occurring at every stage of the supply chain and generating significant social, environmental, and economic costs.³³ An estimated one-third of food produced globally is ultimately lost or wasted along the supply chain, amounting to approximately 1.3 billion tons of edible food each year, much of which ends up in landfills where it emits methane, a potent greenhouse gas with a concentrated global warming potential.³⁴ Aggregated data from 2007-2015 indicates that landfills are responsible for approximately 15% of global anthropogenic methane emissions, and research suggests that the contribution will likely increase as the global population increases.³⁵

At the same time, global rates of hunger and food insecurity remained high and relatively unchanged between 2021 and 2023, after rapidly increasing in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁶ One out of every eleven people in the world experienced hunger in 2023.³⁷ Around 2.3 billion people (29 percent of the global population) were moderately or severely food insecure in 2023 – 350 million more compared to before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁸ The past decade saw an exponential increase in attention toward FLW, with the international community committing to halve FLW in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, reflected in Sustainable Development

Goal 12.3 ("SDG 12.3").³⁹ By redirecting food that would otherwise be lost or wasted to those who are hungry, the world can resolve the related issues of FLW and hunger.

FLW and Hunger in Ecuador

In Ecuador, FLW is estimated to be more than 900,000 tons each year.⁴⁰ Meanwhile, about 37% of the population experienced moderate or severe food insecurity between 2020 and 2022, with 13% experiencing severe food insecurity.⁴¹ Ecuador has the second-highest level of chronic childhood malnutrition in Latin America, impacting 23% of children under 5 and roughly 27% of children under 2.⁴²

FOOD RECOVERY IS A CRITICAL PART OF THE SOLUTION

Thoughtful public policies, including carbon pricing and other emissions reduction practices, can mitigate methane emissions while addressing the troubling mismatch between rates of food waste and rates of extreme hunger, and including food recovery in the policy framework is critical to the solution. Reducing food loss and waste results in sizable economic benefits to society, as it minimizes the costs associated with producing and discarding food that is never consumed. Food donation also helps mitigate the costs of hunger and stimulates the economy: Food recovery organizations provide jobs or sponsor community development, and recipients of donated food can spend their limited financial resources on other basic goods and services. Additionally, diverting food from landfills mitigates methane emissions, making food donation an essential climate solution as well.

In 2023, one food bank in Quito, Ecuador, participated in a pilot project for the Food Recovery to Avoid Methane Emissions (FRAME) methodology, developed by the Global FoodBanking Network and Carbon Trust to quantify the avoided emissions and co-benefits of food recovery activities that redistribute safe, edible food to feed people.⁴³ Completed in 2024, the pilot phase of the FRAME methodology demonstrated that food banking activities play a role in reducing emissions while also achieving the co-benefits of reducing food insecurity.⁴⁴ The participating food banks (one food bank in Quito, Ecuador (Banco de Alimentos Quito) and five foodbanks in the Mexican FoodBanking Network (*Red de Banco de Alimentos de México*, BAMX)) recovered over 30 million kilograms of food to avoid 816 metric tons of methane, or nearly 20, 400 tons of CO₂ equivalent.⁴⁵

ECUADOR'S COMMITMENT TO CLIMATE MITIGATION

This section describes the Paris Agreement that the parties at the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP21) adopted in December 2015, the pathways that Article 6 of the Agreement opens for emissions trading between countries, and Ecuador's Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) toward the Agreement's climate mitigation goals.

The 2015 Paris Agreement, adopted at COP21 and entered into force in November 2016, aims to limit the global temperature increase to below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, with countries working together to limit the increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius and achieve net zero emissions by 2050.⁴⁶ The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) suggests that by 2030, the world needs to limit carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions to about 45% below 2010 levels and reduce methane emissions by about 33%.⁴⁷

To achieve these goals, Article 4 of the Agreement requires signatories to establish Nationally Determined Contributions as a pledge for decreased emissions targets and a commitment to pursue policies that will mitigate emissions.⁴⁸ NDCs contain information on the country's targets, policies, and measures for reducing emissions and often include information on the country's financial and technical needs to meet their goals. They are a way for countries to communicate their climate adaptation priorities and the support that they might need to achieve those priorities.⁴⁹ As of 2020, countries are supposed to submit new NDCs to the Secretariat of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC) every 5 years (following guidance from the Katowice climate package), and subsequent NDCs must be more ambitious than the previous NDCs.⁵⁰

Article 6 of the Paris Agreement recognizes that it is likely impossible for countries to meet their NDCs entirely from publicly financed projects. It encourages parties to cooperate with each other



to meet their NDCs and creates a framework for countries to use economic instruments to reduce the financial burden of ambitious emission mitigation targets.⁵¹ Guidance emerged from COP26 in Glasgow that provided direction related to carbon markets.⁵²

Article 6 requires emission reduction units to be real (represent real emissions reductions), verifiable by an independent auditor, quantifiable, additional (must represent emissions reductions above what would have occurred without the offset), enforceable, and permanent.⁵³ Furthermore, the guidance from COP26 expects that market-based cooperation activities between parties will positively contribute to sustainable development and poverty reduction.⁵⁴ The Agreement places renewed emphasis on the importance of activities delivering holistic benefits for climate mitigation and achievement of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.⁵⁵ Additionally, COP 28 established the Food Systems and Agriculture Agenda, formally recognizing that food system transformation is necessary to meet global climate goals and committing to develop policies and implementing practices that reduce FLW.⁵⁶ Activities supporting increased food donation are uniquely suited to meeting these goals.

While the Glasgow guidance was a good start in 2021, it took countries until COP29 in Baku, Azerbaijan, in 2024 to reach an agreement on standards for the Paris Agreement Crediting Mechanism (PACM) established under Article 6.4.⁵⁷ The PACM is a UNFCC-managed and monitored, carbon crediting framework that will allow for international carbon credit (emission reduction units) trading and will be open to countries and private actors.⁵⁸ There is still work to do before the PACM is fully operational, which could take a year or more, but establishing the standards was hailed by the negotiators as significant progress at COP29.⁵⁹ The United Nations Development Program also created the National Carbon Registry (NCR) as open-source software that is accredited as a digital public good and will serve as a data management tool for carbon trading.⁶⁰ The NCR can integrate with other measurement, reporting, and verification systems to help countries advance carbon markets, setting and meeting even more ambitious NDC goals.⁶¹

Ecuador's Nationally Determined Contributions

Ecuador ratified the Paris Agreement in 2017, and as part of the Agreement, Ecuador submitted its first NDCs in 2019.⁶² Ecuador had previously submitted a 2015 intended NDC in anticipation of the Paris Agreement, and because of its enhanced commitments and implementation plans, it is appropriate to consider the 2019 NDC a follow-up to Ecuador's 2015 intentions.⁶³ In May 2021, Ecuador established its Implementation Plan of the First NDC, which aligns the NDC implementation with the priorities sectors in the National Climate Change Strategy 2012-2025 (discussed below).⁶⁴ Both the NDC and the Implementation Plan include multi-stakeholder input and consider climate change's impact on women, children, and other vulnerable groups.⁶⁵ The 2019 NDC intends to reduce emissions unconditionally (without international support) by 9% from the Energy, Agriculture, Industrial Processes and Waste sectors by 2025 as compared to the 2010 baseline scenario.⁶⁶ If international support is available (the conditional scenario), then Ecuador's 2019 NDC adds an 11.9% reduction across the same sectors, aiming for 20.9% total reduction for both scenarios.⁶⁷

The 2019 NDC identifies the need for global financing and technology sharing to achieve the most ambitious emission reduction targets.⁶⁸ For example, Ecuador receives some financing for climate adaptation and mitigation projects from the Green Climate Fund (GCF), a climate financing

mechanism that the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change created to support climate projects in countries most vulnerable to climate impacts.⁶⁹ GCF supports projects in Ecuador related to agroforestry, reforestation, biodiversity, and coral reef protection.⁷⁰

Ecuador did not specifically include FLW in its 2019 NDC.⁷¹ But the document highlights waste as a general category under its adaptation and resilience areas.⁷² It also explicitly commits to reducing poverty and inequality, advancing sustainable development, and promoting the rights of nature, which all align with increasing food donation to reduce food loss and waste, thereby decreasing methane emissions.⁷³ The NDC also references food security as a priority; as discussed further below, reducing food loss and waste through food donation can increase food security.⁷⁴

Ecuador submitted its second NDC in February 2025, with an implementation period expected from 2026 to 2035.⁷⁵ The 2025 NDC updated the first NDC commitment to a 5% reduction by 2025 and established new emissions reduction commitments as a 7% reduction in the unconditional scenario and an 8% reduction in the conditional scenario during the ten year implementation period (2026-2035).⁷⁶ In the 2025 NDC, Ecuador acknowledged that almost 55% of emissions from the country's waste sector correspond to organic waste.⁷⁷ Accordingly, Ecuador committed to reducing organic waste through a circular economy approach (that should prioritize keeping food in the human supply chain when possible) as one of the objectives it would pursue to meet the NDC's emission reduction goals from 2026-2035.⁷⁸

Ecuador's Constitution and the Rights of Nature

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•<

Core to the foundation of Ecuador's NDC is its 2008 Constitution, where Ecuador was the first country in the world to guarantee rights to nature.⁷⁹ Article 71 states that "*Pacha Mama* (Nature), where life is created and reproduced, has the right to integral respect for its existence, maintenance, and regeneration of its life cycles, structure, functions, and evolutionary processes."⁸⁰ Additionally, Article 13 of the 2008 Constitution establishes the people's right to food in Ecuador, and Article 14 identifies the right to a healthy and ecologically balanced environment.⁸¹ More explicitly related to climate change mitigation, Article 414 of the 2008 Constitution requires the government to adopt intersectional measures that protect at risk populations; limit greenhouse gas emissions, deforestation, and air pollution; and preserve forests and vegetation.⁸²

The constitutional rights of nature inform Ecuador's approach to climate mitigation strategies. For example, (and as explained more in the later section on carbon markets), Ecuador does not currently have a regulated or voluntary market for carbon credits, due in large part to uncertainty around the interpretation of **Article 74 of Ecuador's Constitution**. Article 74 states that:

Persons, communities, peoples, and nationalities shall have the right to benefit from the environment and the natural wealth, enabling them to enjoy the good way of living.

Environmental services shall not be subject to appropriation; their production, delivery, use, and development shall be regulated by the State.⁸³

Some have interpreted this grant of rights to nature as a limitation on the commodification of natural resources that would prevent the development of a carbon market or any similar economic policy instrument.⁸⁴ Others have interpreted the language as allowing the development of such markets, so long as the State is responsible for their regulation.⁸⁵ The ultimate responsibility for resolving these competing interpretations lies with Ecuador's Constitutional Court, an issue that is further explored in the below *Carbon Markets* section, which starts on page 18.⁸⁶

National Climate Change Strategy

Ecuador's National Climate Strategy is a comprehensive development strategy that outlines objectives from 2012-2025 and integrates Ecuador's climate goals across sectors, including food, agriculture, and livestock sovereignty; fishing and aquaculture; water supplies and ecosystem maintenance; vulnerable populations; tourism development; and infrastructure improvements.⁸⁷ The strategy includes solid waste management, agriculture, land use, energy, and industrial processes as priority targets for reducing emissions. Its primary goal is to protect Ecuador's biodiversity and the rights of nature set forth in the Constitution.⁸⁸

The strategy establishes three plans for implementation: (1) the National Plan for the Creation and Strengthening of Conditions, (2) the National Adaptation Plan (NAP), and (3) the National Mitigation Plan (NMP). The National Plan for the Creation and Strengthening of Conditions is the foundation for the other two plans.⁸⁹ The strategy identifies the Ministry of Environment, Water, and Ecological Transition (*Ministra del Ambiente, Agua y Transición Ecológica*, or MAATE) and its Undersecretary for Climate Change as the government institutions responsible for implementing the strategy and related plans.⁹⁰ Ecuador began working on the NAP in 2017 and published a plan for 2023-2027 in March 2023.⁹¹

ECONOMIC INSTRUMENTS IN ECUADOR'S CLIMATE POLICY FRAMEWORK

The following section considers how Ecuador has started implementing its climate change mitigation plans through the Zero Carbon Program (*Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero*, (PECC)), as well as the potential for Ecuador to integrate other economic instruments into its climate policy framework, including carbon markets and a carbon tax, while keeping in mind the political landscape's impact on the capacity for implementation. It also shares considerations for food banks that are interested in participating in an offset framework like the PECC or a carbon market. Because the action opportunities for the PECC and potential carbon markets align, they are presented together after the carbon market discussion.

Zero Carbon Program (Programa Ecuador Carbono Cero, or PECC)

Ecuador has chosen an innovative approach, called the Zero Carbon Program, to incentivize emissions reductions. The PECC program is a voluntary verification program that promotes emissions reductions through three stages: (1) Quantifying Emissions, (2) Reducing Emissions, and (3) Carbon Neutrality through Compensation. Participating entities that meet the requirements of each voluntary

program component earn a carbon footprint quantification certification (for measuring emissions using an approved protocol), a carbon footprint reduction certification (for emissions reductions), and a carbon footprint neutrality certification (for achieving carbon neutrality by compensating environmental projects with emission credits purchases).⁹²



Each program component is voluntary, but entities must complete the component requirements sequentially, starting with level one (quantifying) before moving to level two (reducing) and finally progressing to level three (neutrality). One of the main features of the PECC is the incentive structure for completing each stage, which includes a certification label that companies can use in their marketing materials.93 Entities that quantify their emissions using a government-approved protocol are eligible for the Green Initiative Distinction (valid for one year), those that reduce emissions based on an approved protocol are eligible for the Green Dot Certification (valid for two years), and those that achieve carbon neutrality through the compensation program are eligible for the Green Point Certification (valid for three years).⁹⁴ MAATE has published regulations that apply to organizations seeking these certifications as well as regulations specific to products that may be offered with claims about GHG emissions.⁹⁵ The remainder of this section will focus on the third component of the PECC that targets carbon neutrality through a compensation and offset credit framework.

The PECC's carbon footprint neutrality component incorporates offset elements (like a carbon market) within a more structured framework that includes guardrails to bolster the credibility and integrity of reported emissions reductions.⁹⁶ While the government is still developing and finalizing technical guidance to implement the PECC, the regulations make clear that the government will play an important role in ensuring transparency and determining the veracity of offset projects, ensuring compensation for organizations that implement agreed upon projects, and respecting the rights of nature as established in the Constitution.⁹⁷

Under the PECC's carbon footprint neutrality component, organizations with capacity to reduce or sequester greenhouse gas emissions (such as a food bank, in the case of this report), would design a project (e.g. preventing food from entering a landfill where it will decompose and produce methane) that complies with technical guidance published by the government.⁹⁸ Once the project is designed, the Conformity Evaluating Body (*Organismo Evaluador de la Conformidad*, or OEC) evaluates the project.⁹⁹ Once the OEC verifies and validates the project, the food bank or other organization may then request the project be listed in the government's Offset Portfolio.¹⁰⁰ From there, an entity that has completed the previous PECC components and that is interested in offsetting their emissions for carbon neutrality may identify projects in the government's Offset Portfolio that align with their business goals and then negotiate with the organization implementing the project, like a food bank,

to determine the price for the offsetting activities.¹⁰¹ When the parties reach an agreement, the organization offsetting their emissions pays money into a fund administered by the government, called the Trust Fund, which retains a commission and then distributes the funds to the organization implementing the project.¹⁰²

While the government is still developing the compensation program and guidance given thus far is not yet official, the regulations frame several program requirements. For instance, offset projects must be actual, permanent, additional, verifiable, avoid double counting, traceable in a single registry, and transparent.¹⁰³ Methodologies to measure the impact of a proposed project may include methodologies currently being used for voluntary carbon market projects, so long as they are approved by the MAATE.¹⁰⁴ The regulations also include monitoring and verification requirements for each project that include collecting, recording, and analyzing data to confirm the veracity of the project.¹⁰⁵

The PECC resembles a regulated voluntary carbon market because while participation is voluntary, the government has established a centralized offset registry that it regulates. Although the PECC resembles a VCM because it allows entities to elect to pay for emissions reductions that they are unable to achieve on their own, it is distinguishable from a VCM in two significant ways. First, while the regulations refer to offset emissions units as Emission Compensation Units (*Unidades de compensación de emisiones,* or UCEs) that are equal to one ton of CO2 equivalents,¹⁰⁶ the guidance makes clear that the UCEs are not tradeable or marketable as a commodity between entities, which distinguishes them from carbon credits or offsets in a carbon market.¹⁰⁷ The approach also aligns with Constitutional principles about not commodifying nature.

Second, the PECC's requirements for offset projects are more robust than a traditional voluntary carbon market. For instance, the program requires "implementers," or those who undertake projects to reduce GHG emissions, to include co-benefits in their projects that promote at least one other environmental, social, or cultural improvement beyond the project's emissions reductions.¹⁰⁸ The regulations include a non-exhaustive list of co-benefits, which for food recovery organizations may include working with local communities and groups experiencing an unmet need; supporting poverty reduction and community improvement; and empowering women by increasing equality in decision-making, or implementing other efforts to reduce gender disparities.¹⁰⁹ The PECC regulations also outline that all projects in the Offset Portfolio must ensure that food production did not occur on land deforested after 2018 and must mitigate and account for other potential indirect effects of the project that could increase GHG emissions.¹⁰⁰

Considerations for Food Recovery Organizations Interested in Carbon Offset Frameworks

Entering and participating in a carbon offsets framework, such as the PECC or a carbon market, requires a significant resource commitment from the food bank. While food banks will likely work with a consulting organization to facilitate their emissions reduction projects, the food banks must devote time and administrative resources to calculating the emissions reductions from their food donation activities to determine the market value of their credits. The consultants also have fees that add to the food banks' costs, and the fees would likely vary depending on the project's size and location.

The PECC requires government approval of participating projects and their methodologies for emission reductions, and most carbon market standards require third-party auditors to verify the offset project's emissions reductions, all of which would also add to a food bank's cost. Administering emission credit sales and tracking emissions reductions also requires dedicated resources from the food bank, including investments in technology. While food banks would likely have to pay most costs when initially entering the market, the increased revenues from the UCE or carbon credit sales could mitigate the costs if the price for the emission credits is high enough and the food bank has the capacity to offer and sell enough credits to cover the costs. Food banks will need to consider if participation in the emissions credit or offset market is a worthwhile investment by comparing the costs of data collection, monitoring, and verification requirements with the expected price and sales of the offset credit.

Like carbon markets, the PECC's carbon neutrality component requires additionality.¹¹¹ Project activities must result in additional emissions reductions compared to what would occur under business as usual, absent any additional funding that would come from the UCE or offsets. The Food Loss and Waste Law in Ecuador (Ley para Prevenir y Reducir la Pérdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situación de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria), which is discussed in more detail below on pages 22-23, includes a ban on throwing away food that is safe for human consumption, and it provides a hierarchy of alternative uses for the food, starting with food donation before moving to animal feed, industrial reprocessing (to create new raw materials and products or produce alternative energy), composting, and landfill use.¹¹² Demonstrating additionality may be challenging for



food recovery projects in Ecuador because the law effectively already requires emissions reductions by banning food from landfills. But additionality could still be possible considering that the law only suggests food donation as one of several alternative uses, and other uses in the hierarchy, like composting and alternative energy generation, may produce more emissions.

Additionality is a particular concern for food recovery projects interested in participating in an offset framework because demonstrating additionality requires significant data collection and potential adjustments to food recovery processes. Food banks that want to participate in the PECC or a high-quality carbon market should develop a project that demonstrates additionality by showing that emission reductions could not have occurred without the funding from the UCE or the carbon offset. In other words, the food bank would satisfy additionality by showing that the food bank needs the UCE investments to overcome a financial, institutional, regulatory, or social barrier to its food recovery activities, and the offset investment would not be replacing one of the food bank's already existing funding streams, such as grant funding.¹¹³ Critics of offset frameworks often raise concerns with additionality, and potential offset program participants should be prepared with data to support their project's additionality claims as a best practice.¹¹⁴

One way for food banks to address additionality is to maintain accurate records of the various funding streams that show the specific food recovery and donation operations each funding stream supports – so that it is clear that the food donations supported by grant funding or charitable donations are separate from any food donations funded by carbon credit investments. In a country like Ecuador, where existing law already effectively requires emissions reductions by prohibiting food disposal in the landfill,¹¹⁵ it will be necessary to review the forthcoming regulations to understand what the law requires and how it changes the baseline emissions scenario for a potential food recovery project. When the surplus food is recovered from a destination other than landfill, such as composting, anaerobic digestion, or animal feed, fewer emissions are avoided because of the food recovery, and more food recovery activities are needed to avoid a ton of CO_2 equivalent emissions. More research is needed to support food banks in developing PECC or other offset projects that meet various additionality criteria.

Carbon markets

This section provides an overview of the recent attempts to authorize carbon markets in Ecuador and the Constitutional questions that carbon markets present in Ecuador. Considering the recent authorization attempts occurred after Ecuador established the PECC, it is worthwhile to explore the status of and potential for carbon markets in the country. Action opportunities for the PECC and potential carbon markets follow this section.

In early 2023, Ecuador's Lasso Administration referred eight questions to voters, one of which would have amended Article 74 and explicitly authorized carbon markets and other similar payments for ecosystem services.¹¹⁶ The referendum failed.¹¹⁷ Following the vote's failure, the National Assembly initiated voting on a legislative proposal that would have granted the Ministry of Environment the authority to design and implement rules for carbon markets.¹¹⁸ However, President Lasso dissolved the National Assembly in May 2023 and called for new elections before a second and final vote could take place.

In September 2024, the National Assembly approved a Draft Law to Reform the Organic Code of the Environment (*Código Orgánico Ambiental* (COA)), that addressed compensation for ecosystem services and provided a pathway to develop and regulate the voluntary carbon market in Ecuador, but President Noboa vetoed the law because, among other things, he was concerned about the voluntary carbon market's credibility and accuracy, as well as the constitutionality of compensation for ecosystem services through funds not otherwise authorized by the government.¹¹⁹

As a result, carbon markets are not currently authorized in Ecuador, and there appear to be conflicting opinions about what is feasible. President Lasso's decision to refer the question of amending Article 74 to allow carbon markets to voters suggests a belief that a Constitutional amendment is necessary to allow carbon markets. Meanwhile the National Assembly's legislative proposals suggest carbon markets would be allowed without amending the Constitution if any such markets are regulated by the government, albeit the President would need to approve any such proposal. These competing interpretations of Article 74 indicate the legality of carbon markets in Ecuador is an unsettled issue.

Ecuador's Constitutional Court has not directly answered the question of whether Article 74 allows a carbon market or similar emissions offset program like the PECC. It has, however, confirmed that

the rights of nature in Ecuador's 2008 Constitution are actual, not just aspirational.¹²⁰ In the *Estrellita Monkey* case, the Constitutional Court confirmed that an individual woolly monkey had rights that could be exercised under the Constitution, and the government had an obligation to not only protect the species or nature in general, but also to protect individual animals.¹²¹ The Constitutional Court's affirmative grant of actual rights to nature in this case suggests that the rights afforded to nature under Articles 74 are meaningful, substantive rights the state must protect rather than goals the state can choose to pursue. While the Constitutional Court has not yet weighed in on the legality of carbon markets under Article 74, the prevailing thought seems to be that carbon markets are not currently allowed, and either a Constitutional amendment or legislative authorization with Executive approval is necessary to make them legally permissible.¹²²

Given the uncertainty of whether carbon markets are permissible in Ecuador, it is difficult to determine what role food recovery organizations and other NGOs may play in such markets. If the Constitutional Court decides that carbon markets are allowed under the Constitution or the government passes a law authorizing such markets in line with the Constitutional Court's interpretation of Article 74, food banks and other NGOs will be well positioned to assist with methane emission reductions by preventing edible food from being sent to the landfill.

Action Opportunities for the PECC & Potential Carbon Markets

When MAATE provides technical guidance to implement the Zero Carbon Program for waste management activities, it should:

• Use language that ensures food recovery organizations, such as food banks, can participate with projects that prevent food from entering the landfill and emitting methane.

Technical guidance for waste management projects should be written in a way that focuses on the core requirements for documenting emissions reductions and that avoids limiting types of projects that may accomplish those reductions. A broader approach to the guidance that focuses on ensuring the integrity of the underlying project rather than specific types of eligible projects, would allow food banks — which may not typically be associated with waste management activities — to benefit from the program financially while providing an opportunity for other entities to offset their own emissions.

• Provide guidance on how food recovery projects can meet the additionality element required by the PECC, considering the organic waste ban that is currently being implemented under Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law

Both carbon markets and the PECC's carbon neutrality component require additionality. Project activities must result in additional emissions reductions compared to what would be possible under business as usual, absent the additional funding that would come from the UCE or offset.

Guidance on how to demonstrate additionality in food recovery projects — when the business-as-usual scenario under the Food Loss and Waste Law effectively requires emissions reductions by banning food disposal in landfills but does not mandate food donation as the only alternative use — would help food recovery organizations determine the extent to which they can participate in the PECC or another offset framework like a carbon market. Such guidance

could also help to ensure support for donation, which provides more benefits compared to some of the other alternative uses for the food, such as composting and alternative energy generation.

To reduce methane emissions and promote food recovery projects in the PECC and any potential carbon market, policymakers should:

• Aid food recovery organizations interested in participating in emissions offset programs like the PECC.

Considering the high costs around project development, monitoring, and third-party verification, policymakers could also provide grants or other financial assistance to food banks and other food recovery organizations interested in participating in carbon offset programs like the PECC or a potential carbon market.

• Ensure robust data collection.

Collecting baseline data on food loss and waste and food donations can help determine the potential effectiveness of food recovery projects in the PECC's carbon neutrality component and the impacts of any food loss and waste regulations. The data can then be used for a variety of other measures, including calculating the potential greenhouse gas emissions avoided by instituting a food donation requirement or joining a potential future compliance carbon market. Policymakers should authorize grants to support robust data collection related to food loss and waste and resultant emissions.

Carbon tax

Ecuador has not established a carbon tax, and there is no indication that the government is planning to consider implementing a tax on carbon. In 2020, the country reformed its formula for determining petroleum and diesel subsidies in a way that would encourage more efficient use of petroleum products and reduce price swings.¹²³ The new formula reflects a shift to a more market-based pricing mechanism for gas and diesel, reduces government subsidies, and caps swings in pricing to plus or minus 5%.¹²⁴ According to the International Monetary Fund, the reformed subsidy is similar to a carbon tax that has the added benefit of freeing up revenue from the reduced subsidy, which could be used for investments in green energy.¹²⁵

Action Opportunity

If the National Assembly were to pursue a carbon tax, policymakers could:

• Include support for food waste reduction activities in the legislation.

If the National Assembly were to pursue a carbon tax, the tax law could create a fund for a portion of the carbon tax revenues to provide grants to food waste reduction projects, such as food donation or recovery infrastructure projects.

Ensuring that carbon tax revenue funds food recovery projects that keep food out of the landfill is one way that additional funding could be directed to food banks to bolster their infrastructure and support their methane-reducing activities (i.e., food recovery that diverts food from the landfill). Grant funding could provide the needed financial supports for food

banks that will likely receive increases in donations because of Ecuador implementing its Food Loss and Waste Law (discussed on page 23 of this report).

METHANE LEGISLATION

Ecuador does not currently have legislation that directly addresses methane emissions as it relates to food waste. The Government of Ecuador, however, has acknowledged the importance of reducing methane emissions and has committed to working with non-governmental partners to reduce such emissions, including an endorsement of the Global Methane Pledge.¹²⁶ Under the Pledge, participants commit to voluntary measures to reduce methane emissions by 30% from 2020 levels by 2030.¹²⁷ Further, the Government has finalized regulations to eliminate routine flaring in oil and gas developments and to remove all flares near populated areas.¹²⁸

While it was not touted as legislation to reduce methane emissions, the Law to Prevent and Reduce Food Loss and Waste and Reduce the Hunger of People in Vulnerable Situations (*Ley para Prevenir y Reducir la Pérdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situación de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria*), discussed more fully below, does have the potential to meaningfully reduce methane emissions when fully implemented. The law prohibits food manufacturers, retailers, and others throughout the supply chain from destroying food that is fit for human consumption. As food is kept out of landfills and used for beneficial purposes like feeding people, less methane will enter the environment from food decomposing in landfills.

Action Opportunity

To strengthen commitments to methane reduction, policymakers should:

• Codify the commitments in the Global Methane Pledge and use food donations to help meet methane emission reduction targets.

Ecuador can establish methane regulations and codify its voluntary commitment to reducing methane emissions. Further, including landfills in methane regulations could work in tandem with the Food Loss and Waste Law.

FOOD WASTE DETERRENCE & OTHER POLICIES TO PROMOTE FOOD DONATION

This section outlines Ecuador's food waste deterrence policies that act as levers to promote food donation and thereby reduce methane emissions from landfills. Food waste deterrence laws and policies aim to reduce food waste and increase food recovery by making food waste financially burdensome.¹²⁹ Food waste deterrence laws may restrict or ban organic waste disposal, require food donation, penalize food waste, or use other policy designs.¹³⁰



Food Waste Deterrence Policies: Ecuador's Food Loss and Waste Law

In May 2022, Ecuador passed the Food Loss and Waste Law.¹³¹ The law requires anyone involved in the "production, processing, distribution, marketing and importation of food products" to not destroy food that is safe for human consumption and the law sets out fines for those who do.¹³² The law includes a hierarchy of alternative uses, including donating to a food bank, feeding animals, producing renewable energy, and composting.¹³³ Anybody who chooses to destroy food must show that the food was no longer edible and that no alternative under the hierarchy of acceptable uses was possible.¹³⁴ The fines authorized by the law do not apply to small-scale food manufacturers and sellers, such as street vendors.¹³⁵

The Food Loss and Waste Law was a priority of Ecuador's former President Moreno and was passed by the National Assembly shortly after President Moreno left office, but President Lasso, who followed President Moreno, did not prioritize implementation of the law. Most recently, in January 2024, current President Noboa issued overarching regulations to initiate implementation of the law, which included additional timelines for relevant agencies to draft their own implementing regulations.¹³⁶ As a result of delays caused by the change in administrations, safe and edible food is still going to landfills where it contributes to methane emissions. Within the National Assembly, Assemblywoman Lucia Placencia is vice president of the Assembly's Food Sovereignty Commission, and she was supportive of the Food Loss and Waste Law.¹³⁷ In addition to her leadership, there seems to be more assembly members interested in reducing food insecurity who could be advocates for additional measures to increase food donations, and thereby reduce the amount of food entering landfills causing methane emissions.¹³⁸

Other stakeholders also want to see the law progress. Both food banks in Ecuador — one in Quito and one in Guayaquil — are interested in finalizing the regulations to implement the Food Loss and

Waste Law. Similarly, National Association of Food and Beverage Manufacturers (ANFAB) expressed interest in finalizing the regulations and has submitted draft proposed regulations to Ecuadorian Service for Standardization (*Servicio Ecuatoriano De Normalizacion*, INEN).¹³⁹ INEN is the national agency responsible for standards development. The Food Loss and Waste Law directed INEN to draft and implement sanitary regulations.¹⁴⁰

Action Opportunity

To promote food recovery activities and deter food waste from emitting methane in landfills, policymakers in Ecuador could:

• Draft regulations to implement the Food Loss and Waste Law.

Shortly after taking office, President Daniel Noboa took the first steps toward implementing the law by publishing an initial framework that includes regulatory definitions, high-level procedures that require food banks and donors to report on the amount of food that is donated, and a timeline for relevant agencies to publish their own regulations to implement the law.¹⁴¹ Maintaining the consistent timelines in the framework will ensure that the Food Loss and Waste Law progresses and the resultant food waste mitigation activities can improve methane emissions.

Tax Benefits for Food Donation and Recovery

Ecuador does not currently provide any tax incentives that would encourage broad-scale food donation, although it does provide a deduction for certain donations to nonprofit organizations that work to address childhood malnutrition.¹⁴² The Lasso Administration reformed Ecuador's tax code shortly after taking office in 2021 and did not directly or indirectly include any benefits for food donation, food recovery, or food waste prevention outside of the provisions supporting nutrition for children and infants.¹⁴³ The Food Loss and Waste Law includes a mandate that both the national government and provincial governments must consider whether tax incentives for food donation would be appropriate, but no evidence suggests this has taken place yet.¹⁴⁴ New elections took place in October 2023 and it remains to be seen whether a new administration will prioritize consideration of such tax incentives.

Action Opportunities

To encourage more methane-mitigating food donations, policymakers could:

• Offer tax incentives for food donations made to food recovery organizations and other intermediaries.

Tax incentives for food donations encourage people to donate more food and help to offset the costs of handling and transporting food for donation. Given that the Food Loss and Waste Law prohibits destroying food that is safe for human consumption, a tax incentive would encourage potential donors to choose donation over the other allowable alternatives.

While the Food Loss and Waste Law, when fully implemented and enforced, will have the effect of keeping food out of landfills, a tax incentive for donations may help industry as they build out the infrastructure that will allow them to keep food out of landfills. For instance, a

potential donor may decide that disposing of food as compost is an easier alternative than storing and delivering food to a food bank. To avoid this possibility and encourage potential food donations, the government should offer tax incentives for donors that choose to send food to recovery organizations instead of other available alternatives under the Food Loss and Waste Law.

Furthermore, while a tax deduction may encourage food donation among certain corporate donors, offering a tax credit for food donation is more likely to encourage donation among farmers and smaller donors that may not generate as much income during the year. Compared with a tax deduction, which reduces a taxpayer's taxable income and is then used to determine the (lowered) amount of taxes that must be paid, a tax credit is a direct dollar-for-dollar subtraction from the taxes owed. Tax credits are also applied evenly across tax brackets and would therefore have a greater impact for small, low-revenue businesses than a tax deduction.¹⁴⁵

• Provide a tax incentive for activities associated with the collection, storage, transportation, and delivery of donated food.

A tax incentive for activities associated with the collection, storage, transportation, and delivery of donated food should be considered to help offset the costs of donation and encourage actors in the food supply chain to invest in infrastructure that will facilitate food recovery activities.

Enhancing Food Recovery from Agricultural Producers

Agricultural producers often produce more food than they can sell. In some instances, prices at the time of harvest may be too low to justify the cost of harvesting a product while at other times, a lack of infrastructure like cold storage facilities means safe, edible food ends up rotting in the field. In conversations with stakeholders involved in food recovery work and representatives from related industries,¹⁴⁶ there seems to be support for increasing financial incentives for those who will be required to elect an alternative use for the surplus, edible food from the hierarchy in the Food Loss and Waste Law, which starts with and prefers food donation.¹⁴⁷

Increased financial incentives would help cover some of the costs associated with collecting, storing, and transporting donated food. Offsetting some of the financial burdens associated with food recovery may help increase food donations and encourage the development of systems that allow more food to be donated while it is still edible. Moreover, because the Food Loss and Waste Law's implementing regulations have not yet been finalized, additional incentives may encourage those in industry to support an expansive donation requirement in the regulations when they are written instead of trying to limit the scope.

Action Opportunity

• Provide grants or tax incentives to encourage development of robust food recovery systems that will ease implementation of the Food Loss and Waste Law.

Grants and tax incentives should be available to producers to offset the costs associated with harvesting and donating food when prices are too low to be commercially viable. Funds

and tax incentives should also be made available for infrastructure (like cold storage and transportation) that would allow farmers to safely store and transport food to food recovery organizations.

CONCLUSION

Policies that support food recovery and redistribution work not only to address social concerns such as poverty and high rates of food insecurity, but also to mitigate methane emissions by reducing the amount of organic waste decomposing in landfills. As emissions reduction programs like the PECC continue to develop in Ecuador, it is essential to include food banks in the policy conversation from the start to ensure effective policy implementation and increased food recovery, thereby maximizing methane emissions reductions.



ENDNOTES

- ¹ THE GLOBAL FOOD DONATION POLICY ATLAS, https://atlas.foodbanking.org/ [https://perma.cc/M9SA-PMC5].
- ² TREVOR FINDLEY ET AL., HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POL'Y CLINIC, ECUADOR LEGAL GUIDE FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY (2022), https://atlas. foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas_Ecuador_Legal-Guide.pdf.
- ³ CONG. RSCH. SERV., MITIGATING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS: SELECTED POLICY OPTIONS (2021), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/ IF11791.
- ⁴ Simon Black et al., More Countries Are Pricing Carbon, But Emissions Are Still Too Cheap, IMF BLOG: CHART OF THE WEEK (July 21, 2022), https:// www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2022/07/21/blog-more-countries-are-pricing-carbon-but-emissions-are-still-too-cheap [https://perma.cc/ Y6UA-2LGP].
- ⁵ Sara Brown, *6 Arguments for Carbon Taxes*, MIT SLOAN MGMT. SCH.: IDEAS MADE TO MATTER (Feb. 22, 2022), https://mitsloan.mit.edu/ideas-made-to-matter/6-arguments-carbon-taxes [https://perma.cc/44Q7-4TSU].
- ⁶ Press Release, The World Bank, Global Carbon Pricing Generates Record \$84 Billion in Revenue (May 24, 2022), https://www.worldbank.org/ en/news/press-release/2022/05/24/global-carbon-pricing-generates-record-84-billion-in-revenue [https://perma.cc/YP86-V5Y8]; TOWARDS AN EMISSIONS TRADING SYSTEM IN MEXICO: RATIONALE, DESIGN AND CONNECTIONS WITH THE GLOBAL CLIMATE AGENDA (Simone Lucatello et al. eds., 2022).
- ⁷ What Are Carbon Markets & Why Are They Important?, U.N. DEV. PROGRAMME: CLIMATE PROMISE (May 18, 2022), https://climatepromise.undp. org/news-and-stories/what-are-carbon-markets-and-why-are-they-important [https://perma.cc/CEK2-FCFK].
- ⁸ Axel Michaelowa et al., Additionality Revisited: Guarding the Integrity of Market Mechanisms Under the Paris Agreement, 19 CLIMATE POL'Y 1211 (2019).
- ⁹ A Practitioner's Guide: Aligning the Voluntary Carbon Market with the Paris Agreement, GOLD STANDARD, https://www.goldstandard.org/ourstory/vcm-transition-framework#:~:text=Under%20the%20Paris%20Agreement%2C%20all,of%20activities%20and%20setting%20baselines [https://perma.cc/4256-7DAD].
- ¹⁰ Methane Matters, NASA EARTH OBSERVATORY, https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/features/MethaneMatters [https://perma.cc/YA2N-YZBT]; Methane Emissions Are Driving Climate Change: Here's How to Reduce Them, UN ENV'T PROGRAMME, https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/ story/methane-emissions-are-driving-climate-change-heres-how-reduce-them [https://perma.cc/7DWH-9X4F]; Landfills Around the World Release A Lot of Methane, Study, REUTERS (Aug. 10, 2022), https://www.reuters.com/business/environment/landfills-around-world-releaselot-methane-study-2022-08-10/; Joannes D. Maasakkers et al., Using Satellites to Uncover Large Methane Emissions from Landfills, 8 SCI. ADVANCES., no. 32 (Aug.10, 2022), https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.abn9683.
- ¹¹ Methane Matters, NASA EARTH OBSERVATORY, https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/features/MethaneMatters [https://perma.cc/YA2N-YZBT]; Methane Emissions Are Driving Climate Change: Here's How to Reduce Them, UN ENV'T PROGRAMME, https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/ story/methane-emissions-are-driving-climate-change-heres-how-reduce-them [https://perma.cc/7DWH-9X4F].
- ¹² Id.
- ¹³ Ellen Gray, *NASA at Your Table: Where Food Meets Methane*, NASA (Aug. 13, 2021), https://www.nasa.gov/feature/goddard/2021/esnt/nasaat-your-table-where-food-meets-methane [https://perma.cc/LXV2-Q7G4].
- ¹⁴ Cheikh Mbow & Cynthia Rosenzweig, Food Security, in CLIMATE CHANGE AND LAND: AN IPCC SPECIAL REPORT ON CLIMATE CHANGE, DESERTIFICATION, LAND DEGRADATION, SUSTAINABLE LAND MANAGEMENT, FOOD SECURITY, AND GREENHOUSE GAS FLUXES IN TERRESTRIAL ECOSYSTEMS 440 (Noureddine Benkeblia, Andrew Challinor, Amanullah Khan, & John R. Porter eds., 2019), https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/chapter-5/ [https://perma.cc/W7PG-88UW].
- ¹⁵ Lena Höglund-Isaksson, Technical Potentials and Costs for Reducing Global Anthropogenic Methane Emissions in the 2050 Timeframe –Results from the GAINS Model, ENVTL. RESEARCH COMMC'N. 2 025004, table 2 (2020).
- ¹⁶ Joannes D. Maasakkers, Using Satellites to Uncover Large Methane Emissions from Landfills, 8 SCIENCE ADVANCES 1 (2002) citing U.N. Climate Change, Greenhouse Gas Data from UNFCCC (2019), https://unfccc.int/process/transparency-and-reporting/greenhouse-gas-data/ghg-dataunfccc, obtained from http://di.unfccc.int/detailed_data_by_party.
- ¹⁷ Lena Höglund-Isaksson, Technical Potentials and Costs for Reducing Global Anthropogenic Methane Emissions in the 2050 Timeframe –Results from the GAINS Model, ENVTL. RESEARCH COMMC'N. 2 025004, 13 (2020).
- ¹⁸ REGAN PLEKENPOL ET AL., HARV. FOOD L. & POL'Y CLINIC, PROMOTING FOOD DONATION: FOOD DONATION REQUIREMENTS AND FOOD WASTE DETERRENCE POLICIES 4 (2023), https://www.foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas_Organic-Waste-Bans_English_2023.pdf [https://perma.cc/ML7E-7TB4].
- ¹⁹ Ecuador, CLIMATE WATCH, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/countries/ECU (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ²⁰ Historical GHG Emissions: Ecuador, CLIMATE WATCH, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ghg-emissions?breakBy=sector&chartType=area&e nd_year=2020&gases=all-ghg®ions=ECU&source=Climate%20Watch&start_year=1990 (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ²¹ Id.
- ²² U.S. ENERGY INFO. ADMIN. COUNTRY ANALYSIS BRIEF: ECUADOR (2023), https://www.eia.gov/international/content/analysis/countries_long/ Ecuador/pdf/ecuador.pdf [https://perma.cc/L4NA-YBXH].
- ²³ Id.
- ²⁴ INT'L MONETARY FUND, ECUADOR: SELECTED ISSUES (2021), https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/002/2021/229/article-A005-en.xml (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).

- ²⁵ Historical GHG Emissions: Ecuador, CLIMATE WATCH, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ghg-emissions?breakBy=sector&chartType=area&e nd_year=2020&gases=all-ghg®ions=ECU&source=Climate%20Watch&start_year=1990 (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ²⁶ WORLD RES. INST., CLIMATE WATCH COUNTRY GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS DATA METHOD NOTE (2022), https://wri-sites.s3.us-east-1.amazonaws. com/climatewatch.org/www.climatewatch.org/climate-watch/wri_metadata/CW_GHG_Method_Note.pdf [https://perma.cc/G43X-QPPT].
- ²⁷ *Historical GHG Emissions: Ecuador*, CLIMATE WATCH, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ghg-emissions?breakBy=sector&chartType=area&e nd_year=2020&gases=all-ghg®ions=ECU&source=Climate%20Watch&start_year=1990 (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).

- ²⁹ Id.
- ³⁰ Id.
- ³¹ Totals may be more than the sum of carbon and methane emissions because fluorinated and nitrous oxide greenhouse gases are included, although they are nominal amounts.
- ³² *Historical GHG Emissions: Ecuador*, CLIMATE WATCH, https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ghg-emissions?breakBy=sector&chartType=area&e nd_year=2020&gases=all-ghg®ions=ECU&source=Climate%20Watch&start_year=1990 (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ³³ See, e.g., Food & Agric. Org. of the U.N. (FAO), Food Wastage Footprint & Climate Change 1 (2015), http://www.fao.org/3/a-bb144e.pdf [https://perma.cc/D34N-SNP4] [hereinafter FAO, Food Wastage Footprint].
- FAO, GLOBAL FOOD LOSSES AND FOOD WASTE—EXTENT, CAUSES, AND PREVENTION 4 (2011), https://www.fao.org/3/i2697e/i2697e.pdf [https:// perma.cc/XY94-VA7L].
- ³⁵ Adriana Gómez-Sanabria et al., Potential for Future Reductions of Global GHG and Air Pollutants from Circular Waste Management Systems, 13 NATURE COMMC'NS 106 (2022), https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-021-27624-7 [https://perma.cc/L7GV-SDAY]; Joannes D. Maasakkers, Using Satellites to Uncover Large Methane Emissions from Landfills, 8 SCIENCE ADVANCES 1 (2002); Lena Höglund-Isaksson et al., Technical Potentials and Costs for Reducing Global Anthropogenic Methane Emissions in the 2050 Timeframe –Results From the GAINS Model, ENVTL. RSCH. COMMC'N. 2 025004, 13 (2020), https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/2515-7620/ab7457 [https://perma.cc/ZDF3-TG2W].
- ³⁶ U.N. FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO, THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION IN THE WORLD 2024: FINANCING TO END HUNGER, FOOD INSECURITY AND MALNUTRITION IN ALL ITS FORMS (2024) https://doi.org/10.4060/cd1254en.
- ³⁷ Id.
- ³⁸ U.N. FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO, THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION IN THE WORLD 2024: FINANCING TO END HUNGER, FOOD INSECURITY AND MALNUTRITION IN ALL ITS FORMS (2024) https://doi.org/10.4060/cd1254en; U.N. FAO ET AL., THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY & NUTRITION IN THE WORLD: TRANSFORMING FOOD SYSTEMS FOR FOOD SECURITY, IMPROVED NUTRITION AND AFFORDABLE HEALTHY DIETS FOR ALL 10, 125 (2021), https://www.fao.org/3/cb4474en/cb4474en.pdf [https://perma.cc/TSC9-RM9X] [hereinafter FAO State of Food Security 2021]; *see also* FAO ET AL., THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY & NUTRITION IN THE WORLD: REPURPOSING FOOD AND AGRICULTURAL POLICIES TO MAKE HEALTHY DIETS MORE AFFORDABLE (2022), https://www.fao.org/3/cc0639en/cc0639en.pdf [https://perma.cc/ZZ5Z-Y2YW].
- ³⁹ G.A. Res. 70/1. at 22 (Oct. 21, 2015) ("By 2030, halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains, including post-harvest losses.").
- ⁴⁰ *Eliminating Food Loss and Waste in Ecuador through Food Banking*, THE GLOBAL FOODBANKING NETWORK (Apr. 8, 2021), https://www.foodbanking.org/eliminating-food-loss-and-waste-in-ecuador-through-food-banking/ [https://perma.cc/V2SM-99KZ].
- ⁴¹ FAO, INT'L FUND AGRIC. DEV. (IFAD), UNICEF, WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP), PAN AMER. HEALTH ORG., 2023 LATIN AMERICA & THE CARIBBEAN: REGIONAL OVERVIEW OF FOOD SECURITY & NUTRITION STATISTICS & TRENDS (2023), https://www.fao.org/3/cc8514en/cc8514en.pdf [https://perma. cc/ZE98-XF5E].
- ⁴² Press Release, The Global FoodBanking Network, Harvard Research Addresses Food Waste, Hunger, and Climate Crisis in Ecuador (Oct. 13, 2022), https://www.foodbanking.org/news/harvard-research-addresses-food-waste-hunger-and-climate-crisis-in-ecuador/.
- ⁴³ Quantifying Food Banking's Environmental Impact: A New Methodology Helps Food Banks Prove Their Role in Cutting Food Waste and Methane Emissions, THE GLOBAL FOODBANKING NETWORK, https://www.foodbanking.org/frame-methane-methodology/ (last visited Jan. 14, 2024); THE GLOBAL FOODBANKING NETWORK & CARBON TRUST, SUSTAINABILITY IMPACTS OF FOOD RECOVERY & REDISTRIBUTION ORGANIZATIONS: A METHODOLOGY TO CALCULATE THE AVOIDED EMISSIONS AND CO-BENEFITS FROM REDIRECTING FOOD LOSS AND WASTE TO DIRECT HUMAN CONSUMPTION, THROUGH FOOD RECOVERY AND REDISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS (2024), https://www.foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/FRAME-Methodology_ Food-Recovery-to-Avoid-Methane-Emissions_GFN.pdf.
- ⁴⁴ Id.
- ⁴⁵ *Quantifying Food Banking's Environmental Impact: A New Methodology Helps Food Banks Prove Their Role in Cutting Food Waste and Methane Emissions,* THE GLOBAL FOODBANKING NETWORK, https://www.foodbanking.org/frame-methane-methodology/ (last visited Jan. 14, 2024).
- ⁴⁶ Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Dec. 12, 2015, https://unfccc.int/files/meetings/paris_ nov_2015/application/pdf/paris_agreement_english_.pdf [hereinafter Paris Agreement].
- ⁴⁷ Press Release, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), The Evidence is Clear: The Time for Action is Now. We can Halve Emissions by 2030 (Apr. 4, 2022), https://www.ipcc.ch/2022/04/04/ipcc-ar6-wgiii-pressrelease/ [https://perma.cc/9P58-3FXH].
- ⁴⁸ Paris Agreement.
- ⁴⁹ Aarjan Dixit et al., World Res. Inst., *State of the Nationally Determined Contributions: Enhancing Adaptation Ambition* (2021), (working paper), https://publications.wri.org/ r wp enhancing-adaptation-ambition [https://perma.cc/3Y97-S5WB].
- ⁵⁰ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FCCC/CP/2015/10/ADD.1, REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES ON ITS TWENTY-FIRST SESSION, HELD IN PARIS FROM 30 NOVEMBER TO 13 DECEMBER 2015 5 (2016), https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2015/cop21/eng/10a01. pdf#page=5.

²⁸ Id.

- ⁵¹ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FCCC/PA/CMA/2021/10/ADD.1, REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES SERVING AS THE MEETING OF THE PARTIES TO THE PARIS AGREEMENT ON ITS THIRD SESSION, HELD IN GLASGOW FROM 31 OCTOBER TO 13 NOVEMBER 2021 (2022), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2021_10_add1_adv.pdf.
- ⁵² The Glasgow Climate Pact Key Outcomes from COP26, U.N. CLIMATE CHANGE, https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/ the-glasgow-climate-pact-key-outcomes-from-cop26 [https://perma.cc/F48X-GVUY].
- ⁵³ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FCCC/PA/CMA/2021/10/ADD.1, REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES SERVING AS THE MEETING OF THE PARTIES TO THE PARIS AGREEMENT ON ITS THIRD SESSION, HELD IN GLASGOW FROM 31 OCTOBER TO 13 NOVEMBER 2021 (2022), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2021_10_add1_adv.pdf.
- ⁵⁴ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FCCC/PA/CMA/2021/10/ADD.1, REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES SERVING AS THE MEETING OF THE PARTIES TO THE PARIS AGREEMENT ON ITS THIRD SESSION, HELD IN GLASGOW FROM 31 OCTOBER TO 13 NOVEMBER 2021 (2022), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2021_10_add1_adv.pdf; *A Practitioner's Guide: Aligning the Voluntary Carbon Market with the Paris Agreement Test*, GOLD STANDARD, https://www.goldstandard.org/our-story/vcm-transition-framework (last updated Mar. 12, 2024) [https://perma.cc/XTZ4-Q9TZ].
- ⁵⁵ Id.
- ⁵⁶ COP28 UAE, Declaration on Sustainable Agriculture, Resilient Food Systems, and Climate Action https://www.cop28.com/en/food-and-agriculture [https://perma.cc/2TF8-V2NT].
- ⁵⁷ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FPCC/PA/CMA/2024/L.1, GUIDANCE ON THE MECHANISM ESTABLISHED BY ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH 4, OF THE PARIS AGREEMENT AND REFERRED TO IN DECISION 3/CMA.3 (2024), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ cma2024_L01_adv.pdf; Paris Agreement Mechanism, UNFCC, https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/article-64mechanism#:~:text=How%20does%20the%20Paris%20Agreement,inevitable%20impacts%20of%20climate%20change [https://perma. cc/7NB2-7EBK]; U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, A6.4- SBM014-A05 STANDARD: APPLICATION OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER V.B (METHODOLOGIES) FOR THE DEVELOPMENT AND ASSESSMENT OF ARTICLE 6.4 MECHANISM METHODOLOGIES (2024), https://unfccc.int/ sites/default/files/resource/A6.4-SBM014-A05.pdf.
- ⁵⁸ U.N. FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, FCCC/PA/CMA/2021/10/ADD.1, REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES SERVING AS THE MEETING OF THE PARTIES TO THE PARIS AGREEMENT ON ITS THIRD SESSION, HELD IN GLASGOW FROM 31 OCTOBER TO 13 NOVEMBER 2021 (2022), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2021_10_add1_adv.pdf.
- ⁵⁹ *COP29 Agrees International Carbon Market Standards,* UNCC (Nov. 12, 2024), https://unfccc.int/news/cop29-agrees-international-carbon-market-standards.
- ⁶⁰ A Newly Accredited Digital Public Good, the National Carbon Registry Will Help Countries Meet Their Climate Targets, UNDP (Aug. 17, 2023), https://www.undp.org/news/newly-accredited-digital-public-good-national-carbon-registry-will-help-countries-meet-their-climate-targets.
 ⁶¹ Id
- ⁶¹ Id.
- ⁶² Ecuador: Latin America & the Caribbean, UN DEV. PROGRAMME GLOBAL CLIMATE PROMISE, https://climatepromise.undp.org/what-we-do/where-we-work/ecuador [https://perma.cc/5W2W-7RTJ].
- ⁶³ ECUADOR'S INTENDED NATIONALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION (INDC), https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/submissions/INDC/Published%20 Documents/Ecuador/1/Ecuador%20INDC%2001-10-2015%20-%20english%20unofficial%20translation.pdf; *Ecuador: A Short Way to Go*, WWF, https://wwf.panda.org/discover/our_focus/climate_and_energy_practice/ndcs_we_want/reviewed_ndcs_/ecuador/ [https://perma.cc/4T9W-2FGG].
- ⁶⁴ Ecuador: Latin America & the Caribbean, UN DEV. PROGRAMME GLOBAL CLIMATE PROMISE, https://climatepromise.undp.org/what-we-do/wherewe-work/ecuador [https://perma.cc/5W2W-7RTJ].
- ⁶⁵ The Paris Agreement prioritized gender equality and women's empowerment as guiding principles for climate action, and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change has illuminated the ways in which women, children, and vulnerable groups experience greater impacts from climate change than other populations. Ecuador developed a Gender and Climate Change Action Plan as part of its international commitment. *Ecuador: Latin America & the Caribbean*, UN DEV. PROGRAMME GLOBAL CLIMATE PROMISE, https://climatepromise.undp.org/whatwe-do/where-we-work/ecuador [https://perma.cc/5W2W-7RTJ].; MINISTERIO DE AMBIENTE, AGUA Y TRANSICIÓN ECOLÓGICA, ECUADOR GENDER & CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN (Plan de Acción de GÉNERO Y CAMBIO CLIMÁTICO ECUADOR (2024) (Ecuador), https://www.ambiente.gob.ec/ wp-content/uploads/downloads/2024/02/PAGCC-ECUADOR-2024.pdf.
- ⁶⁶ https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/Primera%20NDC%20Ecuador.pdf
- ⁶⁷ PRIMERA CONTRIBUCIÓN DETERMINADA A NIVEL NACIONAL PARA EL ACUERDO DE PARÍS BAJO LA CONVENCIÓN MARCO DE NACIONES UNIDAS SOBRE CAMBIO CLIMÁTICO (2019) (Ecuador), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/Primera%20NDC%20Ecuador.pdf [hereinafter Ecuador NDC 2019].
- ⁶⁸ Ecuador NDC 2019 at 11.
- ⁶⁹ *Republic of Ecuador*, GREEN CLIMATE FUND, https://www.greenclimate.fund/countries/ecuador [https://perma.cc/6VNX-XF2X].
- ⁷⁰ Id.
- ⁷¹ Ecuador NDC 2019.
- ⁷² Ecuador NDC 2019; Ecuador: Latin America & the Caribbean, UN DEV. PROGRAMME GLOBAL CLIMATE PROMISE, https://climatepromise.undp.org/ what-we-do/where-we-work/ecuador [https://perma.cc/5W2W-7RTJ].
- ⁷³ Ecuador NDC 2019 Section 3.1.
- ⁷⁴ Ecuador NDC 2019.
- ⁷⁵ SEGUNDA CONTRIBUCIÓN DETERMINADA A NIVEL NACIONAL REPÚBLICA DEL ECUADOR 2026-2035 (2025), https://unfccc.int/node/645603

[https://perma.cc/RV8L-N24R] [hereinafter Ecuador NDC 2025].

- ⁷⁶ Ecuador NDC 2025 at 55.
- ⁷⁷ Ecuador NDC 2025 at 29.
- ⁷⁸ Ecuador NDC 2025 at 56.
- ⁷⁹ Ecuador NDC 2019; GOBIERNO NACIONAL DE LA REPUBLICA DEL ECUADOR, ECUADOR'S INTENDED NATIONALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION (INDC) (2015), https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/submissions/INDC/Published%20Documents/Ecuador/1/Ecuador%20INDC%2001-10-2015%20-%20 english%20unofficial%20translation.pdf.
- ⁸⁰ Ecuador Const. art. 71.
- ⁸¹ Ecuador Const. arts. 13, 14.
- ⁸² Ecuador Const. art. 414.
- ⁸³ Ecuador Const., art. 74.
- ⁸⁴ Katherine Monahan, Interview: Ecuador's Return to the Carbon Market Hinges on Forthcoming Legislative Vote, Carbon Pulse (Apr. 25, 2023), https://iamericas.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/INTERVIEW_-Ecuadors-return-to-the-carbon-market-hinges-on-forthcoming-legislativevote-Carbon-Pulse.pdf [https://perma.cc/7DFV-7X2B].
- ⁸⁵ Id.
- ⁸⁶ Ecuador Constitution, Article 436.
- MICHAL NACHMANY ET AL., CLIMATE CHANGE LEGISLATION IN ECUADOR: AN EXCERPT FROM THE 2015 GLOBAL CLIMATE LEGISLATION STUDY A REVIEW OF CLIMATE CHANGE LEGISLATION IN 99 COUNTRIES (n.d.) https://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/ECUADOR.pdf.
 Id
- ⁸⁸ Id.
- ⁸⁹ REPÚBLICA DEL ECUADOR. MINISTERIO DEL AMBIENTE, ESTRATEGIA NACIONAL DE CAMBIO CLIMÁTICO DEL ECUADOR, ENCC 2021-2025 (2012) (Ecuador), https://www.ambiente.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2017/10/ESTRATEGIA-NACIONAL-DE-CAMBIO-CLIMATICO-DEL-ECUADOR.pdf [https://perma.cc/KZA6-MBYE].
- ⁹⁰ Id.; INT'L MONETARY FUND, ECUADOR: SELECTED ISSUES (2021), https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/002/2021/229/article-A005-en.xml (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ⁹¹ U.N. DEV. PROGRAMME ET AL., NATIONAL ADAPTATION PLANS IN FOCUS: LESSONS FROM ECUADOR (2018), https://www.adaptation-undp.org/sites/ default/files/resources/nap_in_focus_lessons_from_ecuador_english.pdf; MINISTERIO DEL AMBIENTE, AGUA Y TRANSICIÓN ECOLÓGICA (MAATE), PLAN NACIONAL DE ADAPTACIÓN AL CAMBIO CLIMÁTICO DEL ECUADOR 2022-2027 (2023), https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/PLAN-NACIONAL-DE-ADAPTACION-2.pdf.
- ⁹² MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018.
- ⁹³ Id.
- ⁹⁴ Id.
- ⁹⁵ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NOS. MAAE-2021-046, MAAE-2021-047.
- ⁹⁶ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018, Art. 11.
- ⁹⁷ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018.
- ⁹⁸ *Id.* at Art. 9.
- ⁹⁹ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT No. MAAE-2021-018, Art. 8.
 ¹⁰⁰ Id.
- ¹⁰¹ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018, Art. 10.
- ¹⁰² MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, GUIDELINES AND TECHNICAL CRITERIA ECUADOR ZERO CARBON PROGRAM COMPENSATION, Ch. 2, Sec. 4.
- ¹⁰³ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2023-053, Art. 19.
- ¹⁰⁴ *Id*. at Art. 17.
- ¹⁰⁵ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2023-053, Arts. 52-54.
- ¹⁰⁶ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2023-053, Art. 4.
- ¹⁰⁷ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018, Art. 27; MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, GUIDELINES AND TECHNICAL CRITERIA ECUADOR ZERO CARBON PROGRAM COMPENSATION, VERSION 1 (DRAFT), at 5.1.
- ¹⁰⁸ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT No. MAAE-2023-053, Arts. 15, 32.
- ¹⁰⁹ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2023-053, Art. 15.
- ¹¹⁰ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2023-053, Art. 39.
- ¹¹¹ MINISTRY OF THE ENVIRONMENT, WATER, AND ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION OF ECUADOR, MINISTERIAL AGREEMENT NO. MAAE-2021-018.
- ¹¹² Ley Para Prevenir Y Reducir La Pérdida Y El Desperdicio De Alimentos Y Mitigar El Hambre De Las Personas En Situación De Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria, 30 de mayo de 2022 (Ecuador) [hereinafter FLW Law], Art. 12.
- ¹¹³ Axel Michaelowa et al., supra note 102; VERIFIED CARBON STANDARD, VM0046 METHODOLOGY FOR REDUCING FOOD LOSS AND WASTE, v1.0 VERRA, https://verra.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/VM0046_FLW_v1.0.pdf [https://perma.cc/CEQ2-XPEJ].
- ¹¹⁴ Patrick Greenfield, Rainforest Carbon Credit Schemes Misleading & Ineffective, Finds Report, THE GUARDIAN (Sept. 15, 2023), https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2023/sep/15/rainforest-carbon-credit-schemes-misleading-and-ineffective-finds-report [https://perma. cc/2H26-TW9G]; Mark Tilly, UPDATE – Certifiers Go on the Attack After Investigation by Guardian, Corporate Watchdog Levels Fresh Accusations

Against VCM, CARBON PULSE (Sept. 20, 2023), https://carbon-pulse.com/223775/_[https://perma.cc/UWV4-MKUA]; BERKELEY PUB. POL'Y THE GOLDMAN SCH., QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF REDD+ CARBON CREDIT PROJECTS (2023), https://gspp.berkeley.edu/assets/uploads/page/Quality-Assessment-of-REDD+-Carbon-Crediting.pdf [https://perma.cc/7NBS-YMV7].

- ¹¹⁵ FLW Law.
- ¹¹⁶ CE Noticias Financieras, English, Latin Amer., By Approving Question 8, Compensation to Those Who Support the Generation of Environmental Services Would Be Allowed, According to the Government (Jan. 24, 2023).
- ¹¹⁷ CE Noticias Financieras, English, Latin Amer., Only in 9 of the 221 Cantons of the Country Did the "Yes" Vote Win the Eight Questions of the Popular Consultation Promoted by the Government of Guillermo Lasso (Feb. 24, 2023).
- ¹¹⁸ Katherine Monahan, Interview: Ecuador's Return to the Carbon Market Hinges on Forthcoming Legislative Vote, Carbon Pulse (Apr. 25, 2023), https://iamericas.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/INTERVIEW_-Ecuadors-return-to-the-carbon-market-hinges-on-forthcoming-legislativevote-Carbon-Pulse.pdf [https://perma.cc/7DFV-7X2B].
- ¹¹⁹ Press Release, Asamblea Nacional Republica del Ecuador, Plenary Session of the National Assembly Approved Reforms to the Environmental Organic Code (Sept. 17, 2024), https://www.asambleanacional.gob.ec/es/noticia/99938-pleno-de-la-asamblea-nacional-aprobo-reformas-alcodigo [https://perma.cc/NFG4-SHLJ]; Xavier Basantes, *No to Carbon Markets and Conservation Funds: Daniel Noboa's Arguments* (Oct. 22, 2024), YOUTOPIA, https://youtopiaecuador.com/veto-gobierno-reformas-codigo-ambiente-mercados-carbono/ [https://perma.cc/XLV9-USS3].
- ¹²⁰ Estrellita Monkey case, No. 253-20-JH, Corte Constitutional Del Ecuador, 23, (Jan. 27, 2022) (Ecuador) https://aldf.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/01/Final-Judgment-Estrellita-w-Translation-Certification.pdf [https://perma.cc/9HQY-HEKP] [hereinafter Estrellita Monkey case]; In Ecuador, a Major Win for Wild Spaces and Wild Animals, CTR. ANIMAL L. STUDS., LEWIS & CLARK L. SCH. (Dec. 15, 2021), https://law.lclark. edu/live/news/47462-in-ecuador-a-major-win-for-wild-spaces-and-wild#:~:text=In%20its%20analysis%2C%20the%20Court,of%20nature%20 are%20only%20aspirational [https://perma.cc/J8JY-XC7U].
- ¹²¹ Estrellita Monkey case.
- ¹²² Arjuna Dibley & Rolando Garcia-Miron, Creating a Climate for Change? Carbon Pricing and Long Term Policy Reform in Mexico, in THE FIRST INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH CONFERENCE ON CARBON PRICING, World Bank Working Paper Series (Nov. 2019), https://openknowledge.worldbank. org/entities/publication/f38ffd57-cd56-5f31-a248-d7f67b0f3f56.
- ¹²³ INT'L MONETARY FUND, ECUADOR: SELECTED ISSUES (2021), https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/002/2021/229/article-A005-en.xml (last visited Mar. 30, 2024).
- ¹²⁴ Id.
- ¹²⁵ Id.
- ¹²⁶ Alfredo Miranda-González et al., MCATF in Ecuador: Supporting Efforts to Address Methane Emissions in the Oil & Gas Sector, Clean Air Task Force (July 19, 2022), https://www.catf.us/2022/07/catf-ecuador-supporting-efforts-address-methane-emissions-oil-gas-sector/ [https:// perma.cc/6DFC-BZVT]; U.S. DEP'T STATE, FACT SHEET: GLOBAL METHANE PLEDGE: FROM MOMENT TO MOMENTUM (2022), https://www.state.gov/ global-methane-pledge-from-moment-to-momentum/ [https://perma.cc/J9HA-4DKC].
- ¹²⁷ Reductions are calculated at the global rather than national level. GLOBAL METHANE PLEDGE, https://www.globalmethanepledge.org/ [https:// perma.cc/L2Y5-YEYK].
- ¹²⁸ U.S. DEP'T STATE, FACT SHEET: GLOBAL METHANE PLEDGE: FROM MOMENT TO MOMENTUM (2022), https://www.state.gov/global-methane-pledgefrom-moment-to-momentum/ [https://perma.cc/J9HA-4DKC].
- ¹²⁹ REGAN PLEKENPOL ET AL., Harvard Food Law and Pol'y Clinic, PROMOTING FOOD DONATION: FOOD DONATION REQUIREMENTS AND FOOD WASTE DETERRENCE POLICIES 6 (2023), https://www.foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas_Organic-Waste-Bans_English_2023.pdf (Of the 24 countries studied as part of The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas Project, a partnership between FLPC and The Global FoodBanking Network, 11 have adopted of food waste deterrence laws or policies: Canada, Chile, China, Ecuador, India, Mexico, Paraguay, Peru, South Africa, United Kingdom, and the United States).
- ¹³⁰ Id.
- ¹³¹ TREVOR FINDLEY ET AL., HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POL'Y CLINIC, ECUADOR LEGAL GUIDE FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY (2022), https://atlas. foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas_Ecuador_Legal-Guide.pdf.
- ¹³² FLW Law.
- ¹³³ FLW Law, Article 12.
- ¹³⁴ FLW Law, Article 12.
- ¹³⁵ FLW Law, Article 29.
- ¹³⁶ Suplemento Nº 484, Registro Oficial, No. 120 Daniel Noboa Azin, Constitutional President of the Republic, Issue the General Regulation of the Law to Prevent & Reduce Food Loss & Waste & Mitigate Hunger of People in a Situation of Food Vulnerability (*Expedir el Reglamento General de la Ley Para Prevenir y Reducir la Perdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situacion de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria*), (Jan. 24, 2024) (Ecuador), https://faolex.fao.org/docs/pdf/ecu223781.pdf. [https://perma.cc/34LY-ENCF].
- ¹³⁷ The 'Full Belly' Law Will Guarantee Tax Incentives, Certifications & Training for Industries that Donate Food, 24.7 NEWS AGENCY (July 9, 2022), https://247newsagency.com/economy/99784.html [https://perma.cc/4X6G-FWKZ].
- ¹³⁸ Ecuador Experiences the Food Crisis Daily, PICHINCHA COMMC'NS (Oct. 1, 2021), https://english.radiopichincha.com/?p=11870 [https://perma. cc/RA2K-A4BW].
- ¹³⁹ Interview with National Association of Food and Beverage Manufacturers (ANFAB), notes on file with author.
- ¹⁴⁰ FLW Law.
- ¹⁴¹ Suplemento Nº 484, Registro Oficial, No. 120 Daniel Noboa Azin, Constitutional President of the Republic, Issue the General Regulation of the

Law to Prevent & Reduce Food Loss & Waste & Mitigate Hunger of People in a Situation of Food Vulnerability (*Expedir el Reglamento General de la Ley Para Prevenir y Reducir la Perdida y el Desperdicio de Alimentos y Mitigar el Hambre de las Personas en Situacion de Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria*), (Jan. 24, 2024) (Ecuador), https://faolex.fao.org/docs/pdf/ecu223781.pdf. [https://perma.cc/34LY-ENCF].

- ¹⁴² Segundo Suplemento Nº 608, Registro Oficial. No. 304 Guillermo Lasso Mendoza, Constitutional President of the Republic, Regulations to the Organic Law for Economic Development & Fiscal Responsibility After the Covid-19 Pandemic (*REGLAMENTO A LA LEY ORGÁNICA PARA EL DESARROLLO ECONÓMICO Y SOSTENIBILIDAD FISCAL TRAS LA PANDEMIA COVID-19*), art. 36(5) (Dec. 30, 2021) (Ecuador), http://esacc.corteconstitucional.gob.ec/storage/api/v1/10_DWL_FL/ eyJjYXJwZXRhIjoicm8iLCJ1dWlkIjoiMWEyZjY1ZDQtYjU0Mi00NmFiLWJhODItZDQ3YjQwZGUyNTAxLnBkZiJ9 [https://perma.cc/67S5-PKWG]; *Ecuador Enacts Tax Reform*, ERNST YOUNG (Dec. 23, 2021), https://www.ey.com/en_gl/tax-alerts/ecuador-enacts-tax-reform [https://perma.cc/ SRX3-G8JQ].
- ¹⁴³ Id., TREVOR FINDLEY ET AL., HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POL'Y CLINIC, ECUADOR LEGAL GUIDE FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY 9 (2022), https://atlas. foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas Ecuador Legal-Guide.pdf.
- ¹⁴⁴ Ley Para Prevenir Y Reducir La Pérdida Y El Desperdicio De Alimentos Y Mitigar El Hambre De Las Personas En Situación De Vulnerabilidad Alimentaria, Art. 24, 30 de mayo de 2022 (Ecuador).
- ¹⁴⁵ TREVOR FINDLEY ET AL., HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POL'Y CLINIC, ECUADOR LEGAL GUIDE FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY (2022), https://atlas. foodbanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/The-Global-Food-Donation-Policy-Atlas_Ecuador_Legal-Guide.pdf.
- ¹⁴⁶ Interview with ANFAB, notes on file with author.
- ¹⁴⁷ FLW Law, Art. 12.

Economic Instruments for Methane Reduction & Improved Food Security in Ecuador

©2025





